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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 13-62069€V-HURLEY/HOPKINS

PATRICIA FREIRE and
CHRISTIAN FREIRE ,

Plaintiff s,
V.
ALDRIDGE CONNORS, LLP,

Defendant
/

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

THIS CAUSE is beforethe CourtuponDefendant Aldridge Connors, LLP’s Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiff’'s Complaint [ECF No.]9 The question presented is whether a notice attached
to acivil complaintwhich seekdoth to demand payment on a note antbteclosea mortgage
is a communication actionable under the Fair Debt Collection Practices A2CPK’), 15
U.S.C. § 1692-1692p. For the reasons stated below, the Courthadltiss.

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs Patricia and Christian Freire executed a promissory noteegsebyra mortgage
on theirhome After Plaintiffs defaultedBank of America, N.A. hired Defendant Aldridge
Connors, LLR a law firm,to collect the amount Plaintiffs owed ¢time noteand, if necessary,
foreclose the mortgage. On or about September 21, Zfendantserved Plaintiffs with a
foreclosure complainn Floridastate court The complaint sought for the court to “ascertain the
amount due Plaintiff for principal and interest on the Note and Mortgagéé complaint
prayed“that if the sums due Plaintiff under the Note and Mortgage are not paid immediaely, t

Court foreclose the Mortgage and the Clerk of the Court sell the Property gethen
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indebtedness to satisfy Plaintiff's mortgage lien . . ..” The complainpadged“that the Court
retain jurisdiction of this action to make any and all further orders and pritgnas may be
necessary and proper, including . . . the entry of a deficiency decree . .. .”

Defendant attached a notice to tf@reclosurecomplaint, titled “NOTICE REQUIRED
BY THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, 15 U.S.C. 8 1692(G) ET SEQ., AS
AMENDED.” The notice nameBank of America as Plaintiffs’ creditor drstates that, unless
Plaintiffs dispute their debin writing within 30 days of the notice’s recejphe creditor’'s law
firm will presume their debt valid.

Plaintiffs’ FDCPA complaint alleges that the notice Defendant attached to its civil
complaint contains falsehoods. First, the notrasidentifies the creditor as Bank of America.
Plaintiffs, however, contend their creditor is the Federal Home Loan Mortgageciation.
Second, the notice states that to dispute the amount owed, there must be a resportgeg:Tn wri
In fact, however, the FDCPA does not require a dispute to be in writigally, Plaintiffs
contend that by serving the notice, with its own timeline, in conjunction with the doingtal
summons, with differing timelies, Defendant hagrovided contradictory and misésling
information.

lI. LEGAL STANDARD

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a motion to disnlibe wi
granted if the plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be grantedstal® such a
claim, the plaintiff must plead “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its
face.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). When considering a motion
to dismiss, the court must accept all the plaintiff's factual allegations as $ageAshcroft v.

Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (20D9 For the purpose of Rule 12(b)(6), the court considers exhibits



attached to the complaint as part of the compla@ege Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of
Fla., Inc., 116 F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997).
[ll. DISCUSSON

To state a claim under the Fair Debt Collection PracticesaAglaintiff must allegehat
“(1) [he or she]has been the object of collection activity arising from consumer debt; (2) the
defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA; and (3) the defendanghged in an
act or omission prohited by the FDCPA.” Sanz v. Fernandez, 633 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1359
(S.D. Fla. 2009)Boosahda v. Providence Dane LLC, 462 Fed. App’x 331, 333 n.3 (4th Cir.
2012). Underl15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(10), such an act or omission incltjtlege use of any false
representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt otait® ob
information concerning a consumer.”

A. DEBT COLLECTION ACTIVITY

The partiedispute whethethe filing of a civil complaint which seeks collection of a
note and foreclosure of a mortgagenstitutes a debt collection activity. Defendant argues that
an action to foreclose a mortgage is an action to enforce a security interest, action to
collect a debt. Plaintiff argues that the state court complaint has dual goals, one of which,
collection on the note, brings it within the ambit of the FDCPA. The Court agréles wi
Plaintiffs, and finds that Plaintiffs have been the object of debt collection gctivit

While the Sixth Circuit inGlazer v. Chase Home Finance LLC, 704 F.3d 453 (6th Cir.
2013), has jettisoned the distinction between a promissory note and a security, intétdasy
that “mortgage foreclosure is debt collection under the [Fair Debt Collectmtide$ Act,” the
Eleventh Circuit adheres to a more traditional approactRedee v. Ellis, Painter, Ratterree &

Adams, LLP, 678 F.3d 1211 (11th Cir. 2012), the court contrasted the distinction between these



two legal concepts and held that a promissory reote “debt” within the plain meaning of the
FDCPA. Therefore, m the Eleventh Circuit, the filing of a mortgage foreclosure action will
constitute debt collection activity only when the complarks also to collect on the note, that
is, to“demand[s] pyment on the underlying debtSee Reese, 678 F.3d at 1217.

To illustrate, inRotenberg v. MLG, P.A., 13-cv-22624UU, 2013 WL 5664886 (S.D. Fla.
Oct. 17, 2013), the defendant argued that its foreclosure complaint smlghb enforce a
security interefs notto collect a debt. The courtdisagreed, finding thatecause the defendant
sought a deficiency judgment for the amount exceeding the collateral, the defdiddamdeed,
seek to collect a debtHere, it is clear that Defendant was in part agiényg to collect on the
underlying debt, as the complaint sought a deficiency judgment, which by defiilstgranted
only when proceeds from a foreclosure sale do not offset the amount owed on the underlyin
debt.” Rotenberg, 2013 WL 5664886, at *2see also Battle v. Gladstone Law Group, P.A., No.
12-14458€1V, 2013 WL 3297552, at *2 (S.D. Fla. June 28, 201B8)d{(ng that the filing of a
foreclosure complaint seeking the enforcement of a promissory note constitottesltextion
activity under the BCPA).

In this case, the foreclosure complaint sought immediate payment of Plaintfés’
seekingforeclosure only ifPlaintiffs did notimmediatelypay the sums due The foreclosure
complaint also requested that the court retain jurisdiction to entdeficiency decree, if
necessary. Contrary to Defendant’s assertiobefendant’s foreclosurenay have a“‘dual
purpose,”’Reese, 678 F. 3dat 1218. Because the foreclosure complaint sought to enforce a
promissory note, not solely to enforce a mortgage, and because the foreclosure ceoymhint
a deficiency judgment, gudgment for an amount beyond the collateral, Defendant sought to

collect a debt, anthereforePlaintiffs were the object of debt collection activity.



B. DEBT COLLECTOR

Plaintiffs and Defadant next dispute whether Defendant is a “debt collector” under the
FDCPA. Defendant argues that foreclosing a mortgage does not catesd®atome a debt
collector. Plaintiff argues that by regularly doing so, it does. Upon reti@aCourtfinds that
Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that Defendant is, in fact, a debt collector.

It is now beyond dispute that a law firm mbg a “debt collector” under the FDCPA.
See Reese v. Ellis, Painter, Ratterree & Adams, LLP, 678 F.3d 1211, 1218 (11th Cir. 201A).
“debt collector” is a “person who . . regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or
indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1682a(6).
plaintiff sufficiently states that a lafum is a debt ollectorif it shows that the firm “regularly
engages in consumdebtcollection . . . litigation,” Battle v. Gladstone Law Group, No. 12
14458CIV, 2013 WL 3297552, at *2 (S.D. Fla. June 28, 2013) (qudtiagtz v. Jenkins, 514
U.S. 291, 299 (US 1995)hat the firm works for a company to whom itibges the plaintiff
owes a debtand that the law firm had “specific information” about the plaintiff's deds,id.
(quotingMéllentine v. Ameriquest Mortgage Co., 515 Fed. App’x 419, 424 (6th Cir. 2013)).

Plaintiffs have sufficiently pled that Defendant is a debt collector. Tav sihat
Defendant regularly engages in consuwabebtcollection litigation, Plaintiffs reproduce a
portion of Defendant’svebsite where Defendant represents thhe “Firm’s attoneys have
extensive experience in the following foreclosure related areas: PaymeniteBisp and
Deficiency Actions.” Plaintiffs alsoallege that Defendant “regularly prepares Final Judgments
of Foreclosure in cases in which it serves as foreclasauasel, which, in addition to enforcing
a security instrument, also declare a judgment for a specified amount of meneypduncipal,

interest and fees.” Next, Plaintifilages that Bank of Americhired Defendant to collect



Plaintiffs debt, andfinally, that Defendant filed a foreclosure complaint against Plaintitis a
specific amount dyesee Battle, 2013 WL 3297552, at *Zholding that ¢ file a complaint
seeking the enforcement of a promissory note secured by a mortgage, a law firm must
necesarilyhave“specific informatiofi about a customer’s mortgage debPlaintiffs, therefore,
have sufficiently pled that Defendant is a debt collector.
C. VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA

Finally, Plaintiffs and Defendant disputhether the Defendant’s notice wakeceptive,”in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). The Colunds that Plaintiffs have sufficiently allegetat
it was

A debt collector's communication violates 8§ 1692e of the FDCPAt wvould be

deceptive to the “leastophisticated consumer.LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F. 8
1185, 1194 (11th Cir. 2010)Courtsclosely examine communication attached to a foreclosure
complaint because of the potentfal inconsistency between the consumer’s rights under the
notice and his oher obligations under the summortsee Lewis v. Marinosci Law Group, P.C.,
No. 1361676€CIV, 2013 WL 5789183, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 29, 2013) (finding that a notice
stating thatthe consumer must file a written response within 30 days is deceptive because it
could “overshadow the time frame necessary to file a response with the Court as expl#need
summons”);Battle v. Gladstone Law Group, P.A., No. 1214458CIV, 2013 WL 3297552, at *4
(S.D. Fla. June 28, 2013) (“The ‘least sophisticated consumer’ could be deceivedusedonf
when the summons set out a@fy deadline to respond to the lawsuit and the attached notice
provides for a 3@ay deadline to request validation of the debt.A. notice attached to a
foreclosure complaintay deceivethe leastsophisticatd consumer when inisidentifiesthe

consumer’screditor and incorrectly implies thathe consumer must dispute his or her debt in



writing. See Johnstone v. Aldridge Connors, LLP, No. 1361757CIV, 2013 WL 6086049, at *3
(S.D. Fla. Nov. 20, 2013).

In the present case, Plainsfallege that the notice contained two false representations.
First, the notice misidentified Plaintiff's creditor. Second, the notice misstédediffs’ rights
under the FDCPA, imposing upon them a writing requirement not ateshcdy the FDCPA.
Furthermore, Plaintiffs allege that the disparate timelines in the noticetia@dummons could
potentially mislead a consumeBYy confusing the deadlines, or by disputing the debt and not
responding to the complaint, a consumer nmaylvertently waive valuable legal rights

Defendant, by titling its notice as it did, appears to have been striving to cuitipligs
perceived duties under the FDCPA. It was, however, in error. A debt collector must only
provide a notice after an “initial communication” with a consumer. Both #tetstand case law
clearly establish that the filing of a civil complaint does not constitute suachnisial
communication.See 15 U.S.C.8 1692g(d)Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini, Kramer & Ulrich
LPA, 559 U.S. 575, 605 n. 22 (2010). Nonetheless, having provided such a notice, Defendant
must ensure that it provides accurate and clear information. That it did not tsrube df
Plaintiffs’ complaint. Upon review, the Court agrees with Plaintiffs, and finds Defendant’s
notice, albeit gratuitously provided, could be deceptive to the least sophisticated @onsum

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herains hereby
ORDERED andADJUDGED that
Defendant Aldridge Connors, LLP’s Motion to Dismiss Ridi's Complaint [ECF

No. 9] isDENIED.
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DONE andSIGNED in Chambers at West Palm Beach, Florida #lislay of February

2014.

Copies provided to counsel of record
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